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SENATOR VARGAS:  Thank you Committee and Budget Subcommittee No. 4, our witnesses and those of you in the audience.  Welcome to everyone.  We appreciate you taking the time to be here today, especially the young people in high school.  I’m very pleased to be convening a joint hearing with my colleague, Senator Negrete McLeod.  Policy and fiscal matters are very intertwined, but our legislative process tends to separate them.  I hope this is the first of many topics on which our two committees can team up.  I think that a lot of good policy can come from collaborations like this.

Today, we’re here to check in with the Department of Corporations and the Department of Real Estate on their SAFE Act implementation actions to date.  In 2009, California passed SB 36, to ensure that every individual who originates a mortgage loan should meet a minimum set of qualifications, be trained in responsible mortgage loan origination practices, and be accountable for their actions towards borrowers.  Two-and-a-half years now have passed and we’d like to hear from the departments how SAFE Act implementation is going.  Tell us about your successes, your challenges, and, of course, tell us if you have any suggestions for how things might be done better.  We all share the goal of responsible mortgage loan origination.


So again, I want to thank each and every one of you for being here.  I’m going to ask my colleague if you have any opening remarks you’d like to give?


SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I also want to thank everyone for coming and providing us with updates on the SAFE Act implementation.  Lack of oversight and regulatory control over the mortgage loan origination process played an integral role in the current economic crisis but that was only one part of it, so we’re still working on the rest.  Identifying and maintaining a workable solution will require the efforts of both the policy and fiscal committees.  

I hope that this informational hearing serves as a template for future collaborative efforts.  We look forward to hearing your views on the SAFE Act implementation and helping us identify areas that may need to be improved.

So thank you all again.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

SENATOR VARGAS:  Thank you.  Thank you very much.  Alright, we’re going to have our first group come up.  And I ask Colleen Monahan, Louisa Broudy, and Michele Bond, Deputy Commissioners, Department of Corporation to please come forward and take your seats up here.  State your name for the record.  You can go in any order that you wish.  And I welcome you.
MS. COLLEEN MONAHAN:  Mr. Chair, Madam Chairman, I’m Colleen Monahan.  I’m the deputy commissioner over the Office of Legislation and Policy with the Department of Corporations.  And with me today are Michele Bond, she is a deputy commissioner over the Office of Management and Budget in our department; and Louisa Broudy, she is the deputy commissioner of the Financial Services Division in our department.  Louisa Broudy is going to take the lead in offering our testimony today.

SENATOR VARGAS:  Welcome.  And thank you for being here.

MS. LOUISA BROUDY:  It’s a pleasure to be here.  Good afternoon.  As Colleen mentioned, my name is Louisa Broudy.  I’m the deputy commissioner for the Financial Services Division within the Department of Corporations.  I have worked with the department since 1977, and have been the deputy commissioner for the last 19 years.  

As you mentioned, Senate Bill 36 was signed into law in California and allowed us to implement the federal provisions that were included in the SAFE Act, which required the licensing of mortgage loan originators.  In the Department of Corporations we have two financial law areas that would include mortgage lending:  the California Finance Lenders Law, which includes not only mortgage lending, but other types of lending; and the California Residential Mortgage Lending Act, which licenses mortgage lenders, servicers, and allows some brokering activity. 

On January 4, 2010, the Department went live and we began accepting the applications for mortgage loan originators through the Nationwide Mortgage Licensing System (which is often referred to as NMLS).  This is an electronic national system which allowed for the mortgage loan originators to all apply for, and be licensed, and maintain their information on this system.  The system itself was established by the Conference of State Bank Supervisors in cooperation with the American Association of Residential Mortgage Regulators.  The Department of Corporations is a member of the Association of Residential Mortgage Regulators, so we are active in that association and work with other regulators.
In April of 2010, the department promulgated emergency regulations to implement SB 36 and the SAFE Act, and these final regulations were subsequently adopted. 

We process hundreds of applications from existing licensees to transition onto the NMLS and thousands of applications for the MLO applicants until the operative date of the licensing requirement.

Prior to Senate Bill 36, both of the Department’s mortgage lending laws—the Finance Lenders Law and the California Residential Mortgage Lending Act—did not require the licensure of employees.  The lenders themselves were licensed under the Department of Corporations.  SB 36, therefore, was a dramatic change in our regulatory structure and required all mortgage loan originators who were originating loans on behalf of our licensees, the lenders, to actually be licensed individually in order to continue to engage in mortgage lending activity.  And the requirement under SB 36 of the Department of Corporation licensees was that all mortgage loan originators under our jurisdiction had until July 31 of 2010 in order to become licensed.  Part of the process included that the employers, our licensees, the lenders, transition onto the NMLS system so that they could … the MLO applicants could be associated with the companies that they work for.

One of the issues that we had to address was that prior to SB 36 the department used paper applications for our lenders, so now for the mortgage loan originators, we were going to be using the NMLS electronic system.  So it did require that the companies be on the NMLS.  And then another issue was that under the Finance Lenders Law, we have lenders who do not make mortgage loans, so part of the population of our lender licensees did not transition onto NMLS and we continue to process their applications by paper.

When we started planning for the transition and the licensee and mortgage loan originators, we estimated, based on a survey that we had used of our current licensees, and as of July 31, 2010 we had actually transitioned 875 companies, 585 finance lenders, and 290 CRMLAs, and over 2,000 branch offices onto the system.  Because of the change in the economy and the in the industry, our estimate of the number of potential mortgage loan originators decreased over time.  At the time SB 36 was close to enactment, we had projected about 23,000 mortgage originator license applications.  As of February 29 of this year, 2012, we have received 22,117 mortgage loan originator applications, and we have licensed 17,562 loan originators.  Part of the process included denying 26 applicants; 2,843 applications were abandoned; and 561 applications have been withdrawn.

SENATOR VARGAS:  Excuse me; how many were abandoned?

MS. BROUDY:  We abandoned … well, 2,843 applicants abandoned their application.

SENATOR VARGAS:  Thank you.

MS. BROUDY:  Currently, on the average, the department receives 400 applications per month for new mortgage loan originators, and we also receive over 700 sponsorship requests per month.  And what a sponsorship request is, is when a mortgage loan originator changes employer, their sponsorship, the person they work for, changes and that has to be updated through the system and there’s a process that originates with the mortgage loan originator, the new employer, and then the department approving that.

There is a significant amount …

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  Excuse me.  

MS. BROUDY:  I’m sorry.

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  I have a question.  What is the significance of paper apps and electronic apps?  What’s the significance there?

MS. BROUDY:  Well, the significance is that the department, for finance lenders, depending on the type of activity that you’re in the business of, you would file a paper application which you get on the computer and then you just print it out.  But …

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  No, no, no.  I get one’s paper and one’s electronic… what’s the significance of it?  What does it prevent?  What does it stop people from doing?

MS. BROUDY:  Well, it doesn’t prevent them; it’s just that we now have two types of applicants and we have to keep records of two types of licensees.

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  No, I get that.  

MS. MONAHAN:  It’s two different databases essentially.  So because the paper applicants aren’t on NMLS, all of that data for that segment of our licensing pool is only data for a part of our entire licensing pool under that law, so it requires we maintain two different systems of tracking.

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  No, I understand that you’ve got two things.  So that if you’re electronic, that’s going to prevent you from doing something?  If you’re on paper, you’re more likely to do something?

MS. BROUDY:  No, it has no basis on what you do or don’t do.

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  Okay, I just wondered why it was so important that we talk about one’s an electronic and one’s on paper.

MS. BROUDY:  It’s just part of the daily workload and the issues we have to address.

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  So a bad person can do it whether it’s on paper or whether it’s electronically?  
MS. BROUDY:  No …
SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  A good person would not do anything whether it was on paper or electronically?

MS. BROUDY:  Well, a mortgage loan originator cannot apply on paper.  

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  Okay.  I think you’re missing my point.  My point being that if some magic potion … I know it’s the application process, but it sounds to me like the emphasis were if you’re on electronic you’re going to be safer; if you’re on paper you’re not.

MS. BROUDY:  Oh, that was not the implication at all.  I’m sorry.

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  Okay.

MS. BROUDY:  As I mentioned, there is movement between the mortgage lender originators, between a finance lender, and a residential mortgage lending company and that is something that has to be changed on the system so we know who the mortgage loan originator is working for.  We did review … to get an idea of where the mortgage loan originators are working, we did get some statistics and currently we estimate that 20 percent of the mortgage loan originators are currently working with our finance lenders; 50 percent are working with our CRMLA licensees; and 20 percent of the MLOs work for companies that maintain both the finance lender and the California Residential Mortgage Lending Act license.  Some of our licensees maintain both.
Currently, the renewal process for mortgage loan originators ended.  And that went from November 1 of 2011 to February 29, 2012.  During this time, the department processed 11,240 renewals, so that’s the current number of mortgage loan originators who have the ability to conduct that activity under our authority.  As of February 29th, our workload includes 726 pending applications.  Of those 726, 452 were received during the last 30 days and are currently being processed.  With respect to the remaining 274 applications, deficiencies were noted which would not allow us to approve the applications at this time.  The main deficiencies revolve around the applicants not meeting the testing requirements, passing either the state or national test, the education requirements, or not having their criminal background check cleared.

The one thing that has changed recently is that now an MLO applicant’s application will not be forwarded to the state regulatory agency until they’ve met, at a minimum, the testing, and the education, and they requested their credit report.  So what we’re getting are more complete applications, and so, those that are pending have minor deficiencies and we’re moving those along much quicker.

As a little background on the staffing of the Department of Corporations; in order to handle this new process we went live on January 4th of 2010 through the NMLS.  And as of July 31st with the deadline fast approaching, the numbers significantly increased—the number of applications that we were receiving.  As a consequence, at various times we’ve pulled examiners and staff members from other job duties in order to assist in the review of the MLO applications on a temporary basis and we did this in order to ensure that our review would be completed and we would be able to approve those that met the requirements by the July 31st deadline.

In mid-April of 2010, we had 45 examiners who were assigned to review applications, and in May 2010, we increased that number to 63.  At the licensing peak, the months of June and July, we had additional department staff members assist in the review and at that time we had a total of 69 staff members working on the application and the transition requirements in order to meet the deadline.

SENATOR VARGAS:  If I can interrupt you for a second.

MS. BROUDY:  Sure.

SENATOR VARGAS:  If you know; what programs were they temporarily shifted from within your organization?

MS. BROUDY:  The Financial Services Division was the main unit that staffed the operations.  We regulate the finance lenders, the mortgage bankers, payday lenders, and escrow agents.  So the field examiners who usually were conducting those regulatory examinations were brought into the office in order to process applications.

SENATOR VARGAS:  Thank you.

MS. BROUDY:  Currently, we have eight examiners who are working in processing MLO applications, the sponsorship requirements, amendments, and renewals for our mortgage loan originators.

Part of our process to implement the provisions of SB 36 included a review of our examination procedures.  And as with other laws we administer, we also accepted complaints from the public.  So we use these resources to ensure compliance with the provisions of SB 36. 

We have used … besides the eight additional positions that we received at the time SB 36 was passed, we’ve used existing resources in the Financial Service Division and that includes our finance lender examiners and our California residential mortgage lender examiners, and the staff that is included in our enforcement division, which includes counsel, examiners, and support staff.

SENATOR VARGAS:  If I can interrupt you again.  So normally they’d be in the field and they would be doing examinations to make sure that they’re following the law and instead you brought them in to do the applications now.  Did the field suffer in a sense, then, that you don’t have people out there making sure that the law is being followed?  And if not, why is that not?  I mean, it seems like if you brought people in-house that are out there in the field examining to make sure that the law is being abided by and no longer doing that; they’re inside processing this flood of applications, something has to give does it not?

MS. BROUDY:  That’s correct.  And our statistics during that time period for regulatory examinations did decrease.  Obviously, the examinations that would have been conducted by those staff members were not conducted.  We made the decision to bring the staff members in because the initial MLO application workload was a onetime issue and we knew we couldn’t staff … we couldn’t hire new staff quickly enough and then maintain them, so we made the decision to transfer those employees, and then, now we’re back to being able to complete our examinations.

SENATOR VARGAS:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. BROUDY:  As I mentioned, we have reviewed our examination procedures under the Residential Mortgage Lender laws to determine if there are any SAFE Act violations.  We have included procedures to determine whether the individuals that are working out and are engaging in the business of originating loans are actually licensed.  We check licensee’s internal books and records.  We compare it to information that’s included on the NMLS and bring to attention any violations that we have noted.  
Under the CRMLA, from January 2011 to January 2012 in 66 examinations, we found mortgage loan originator violations at nine locations.  Those violations included unlicensed MLO activity and incorrect disclosure on documents which requires that the MLO provide a number on their documents.  The more serious violations are being investigated further and if warranted, enforcement action will be taken.  Our regulatory exam process includes a Regulatory Letter of Findings at the end of the exam which requires a written response from the company to address those issues that are either violations of law or that we need additional information on, so that process continues.  Similarly, under the Finance Lenders Law; in 1,140 examinations we found mortgage loan originator violations at 54 locations and we are handling those in a similar manner.

To date, we have denied 26 mortgage loan applications.  Of those, the department has taken 12 administrative actions to enforce the denials.  We have also taken action against one licensee to revoke the mortgage loan originator license and this is based on allegations of cheating and failure to have the character necessary to be employed in the residential mortgage lending industry.  This matter is currently pending at the administrative hearing level.

As part of SB 36—it required the filing of some new reports—all company licensees are required to file “mortgage call reports” quarterly and that’s through the NMLS.  The functionality has only been programmed by NMLS and available for licensees to use since April of 2011.  The department is reviewing these reports in conjunction with our examination.  It is still new, so we will continue to analyze the types of data that are available so that we can use that in our examination and oversight of mortgage loan originators.  
One thing with the report is the report is a California report statewide and would include combined data for the finance lender activity, mortgage lender activity, and the activity of those mortgage loan originator companies who are also under the Department of Real Estate.  Also, although the call report is required, there is other additional information that’s required by our licensees and those were requirements that were in the law prior to SB 36, so we continue to require that those reports be filed through the department and we use that information also to oversee the activity of the licensee.

As I previously mentioned in talking about the deficiencies of the pending applications; there is a new system within NMLS that allowed applications not to flow through to the agency until both the state and national components of the SAFE test were passed and pre-licensure education requirements were met.  So that is allowing the applications that do come to the department to be in a better position of having met all the requirements, because those are probably the hardest requirements for an individual to meet.  So that is assisting us in being able to process the applications timely.
Our goal as far as the application review process is to perform the first review of every application within 30 days of the initial filing.  If the application is complete, the license will be issued at that time.  Our average application processing time is 38 days.  

Another function that we handle:  as I previously mentioned, our sponsorship request, and our goal is to handle those requests within one week of receipt.  The handling of sponsorship removals, which is when an employer is no longer employing the MLO, we handle that within one day.  So we handle all the new applications, which are approximately 400 per month; sponsorship requests, and we get about 700 per month; removals, over 400; and any amendments plus phone calls and communications with the eight examiners that we currently have assigned to that process.

So I’d like to thank you for the opportunity to bring this update to you.  If you have any questions, we’d happy to answer them.

SENATOR VARGAS:  Well, thank you very much.  I’d also like to welcome Senator Chris Kehoe—thank you.  And also, Senator Sam Blakeslee—thank you for being here.

Are there any questions?  Yes.

SENATOR CHRISTINE KEHOE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and Madam Chair.  I think I heard most of your discussion but let me just pull out a few things that I … so all of our efforts are so that we comply with the federal law?  That’s why you’re doing all this, right?

MS. BROUDY:  Well, we implemented the California law based on the federal state law.

SENATOR KEHOE:  SAFE Act, okay.  And then on your workload, there’s quite a bit of detail, would you say now in your opinion; that you are caught up as far as things go—the new applications and all that?  And then you have your ongoing work of what, 400 applications a month and 400 removals; did you say that?

MS. BROUDY:  Sponsorships and the changes in the employers, I think there were about 700, and removals.  You’re right, 476 sponsorship requests and removals, so those both deal with the change in employer.

SENATOR KEHOE:  Okay.  And these are all employed by non … they’re not bank employees?

MS. BROUDY:  Correct.

SENATOR KEHOE:  Okay.  It seems like a big workload and that it’s going to be ongoing.  You know, you’ve dispensed with your onetime ramp up and now you’re going to have to monitor these hundreds and hundreds of changes every month.  And how many people are you going to use for that?

MS. BROUDY:  We have eight employees currently.

SENATOR KEHOE:  Okay.  Going back to Senator Negrete McLeod’s question; why do you have two applications—paper and digital?  Wouldn’t all digital be more efficient and more convenient?

MS. BROUDY:  The department currently doesn’t have an electronic system for the filing of applications other than what we use through NMLS.

SENATOR KEHOE:  So only the NMLS can be digital?

MS. BROUDY:  Well, that’s the nationwide system that we use.  But that’s currently available to us for the mortgage lending activity, so any other type of license that we issue through the Department of Corporations is handled by paper.

SENATOR KEHOE:  And what’s the other … one is a license and one is a registration or something?

MS. BROUDY:  The Department of Corporations.  Our mortgage lender originators are licensed.
SENATOR KEHOE:  Okay.  Do you have any suggestions about how efficiency in this process could be increased?  

MS. BROUDY:  Well, I think we’ve been in this process now for a few years and I think as time goes by, we’re learning new methods; we’re becoming more efficient in how we process.  Our examiners who are assigned to the review, obviously, are becoming more experienced.  So we’re taking what we learn and implementing any changes.  As I mentioned, our goal for 30 days is what we strive for and we’re able to maintain that; the average being 38.

SENATOR KEHOE:  And then, if you step back from it, you know, after all this effort, the registration etc., do we know that consumers are safer in California for being exploited with their mortgages than they were before?

MS. BROUDY:  That’s a big question.  I don’t know that you can ever say with any law that’s implemented that you know that someone is safer because of that law.  I think it’s a tool that allows us to review; to know who is out there originating loans; that they have met certain standards; that the company employing them has met standards; and then through our examination process and the other requirements in the law, we determine whether the company is complying.

SENATOR KEHOE:  And I would guess that the pool of loan originators has diminished in the last two years or so?

MS. BROUDY:  Yes.

SENATOR KEHOE:  So it could be that the bad actors are gone just for lack of the market—those changes in the market.

MS. BROUDY:  Or they were unable to get licensed.

SENATOR KEHOE:  Or they were not able to get licensed.  Okay, thank you.

SENATOR VARGAS:  Thank you.  We have questions by Senator Negrete McLeod.

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  Now what you’re talking about is purely technical about what the department has done; what they’re implementing; what they’re doing.  I’m just curious; did you have any inkling in your department—and, you know, we’re looking at this in hindsight—that what was to occur not only statewide, but nationwide, that it was going to happen?  Was there any inkling in your department?  Did anybody come and tell you, “You know, there’s some really kinky things going on; there’s some really abhorrent behaviors happening.  You know, this may cause Babel to topple?”  Was there any inkling at all?  And in hindsight, you could look at that, you could say, “Yeah, there was some hints of what was transpiring would result in what had happened?”  And I know it just wasn’t California, it was across the nation, but California seemed to have been the first rock that rolled down the hill and then it just snowballed.  Well, actually it was a snowball that went downhill that did it.
MS. BROUDY:  I don’t recall hearing anything that would have been a warning sign.  I don’t know, Colleen, if you recall anything.  There was a lot going on.  I think loans were being purchased through investors.  I mean, we all know that it was more than one issue.

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  I don’t know, 60 Minutes had a program and there was a lady that was in that particular kind of business that was working for the federal government that said, “Something’s happening out there that’s going to result in” …

SENATOR KEHOE:  Oh, the FDIC woman.

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  Yeah, that said, “I see something happening,” and she kind of predicted that something was going to happen and nobody paid any heed whatsoever.

MS. MONAHAN:  When the market was heating up, the department at that time was under a lot of pressure because we could not license the applicants fast enough.  There were so many applications coming in for lenders.  So our pressures …

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  ____________

MS. MONAHAN:  I realize _________ exactly your question.  But our pressures at that time were so focused on the market getting out past where we could accommodate in a timely fashion.

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  But if you were looking at a graph; this is the graph and California is going like this; suddenly it went like this with the applications.  Doesn’t that trigger something to say, “Why is there an aberration in the graph that suddenly steeped up that way when everybody was asking for an application—everybody and their mother?”
MS. MONAHAN:  Of course.  And housing prices were rising and there was a lot of money being made in that marketplace.  

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  It was hot.  Everybody was trying to get into it.

MS. MONAHAN:  It was hot.  So …

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  Of course, it’s all in hindsight.  We can all say, “This is what happened.”

MS. MONAHAN:  And there was media grumblings about potential bubbles at that time.  But I think as someone unveiled as an onion more about what was happening and what were the causes and even now we look and everyone can name multiple causes—subprime loans, no doc loans, behaviors in the marketplace by borrowers, by lenders.  I don’t know how to answer that other than to say we were following the same information that was available publically about what was going on in the marketplace and the potential risks and the high rewards for everyone.
SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  And so now in retrospect, we’re all doing the laws; we’re doing this …after the barn door … after the cow has escaped.  So, okay.

SENATOR VARGAS:  Senator Blakeslee, you have some questions, sir?

SENATOR SAM BLAKESLEE:  Thank you, Chair.  I appreciate it.  I thought Senator Kehoe had exactly the right question about whether or not our consumers here in California are safer for all this effort.  And what I heard was we don’t know if they are safer.  I think that was your remark.  And so, as I process the testimony, I’m hearing 400 applications per month, an enormous amount of work being undertaken.  And I think I heard there are 26 incidences where the license was declined mostly because they hadn’t disclosed whether or not they had or hadn’t had a license yet, which seems a little bit circular.  And so, my concern is we’ve created an … I’ll give you a shot here; I’m more expressing a concern, then I’d love to hear your feedback.  My concern is it sounds like we’ve created this enormously involved regulatory rubric for getting everyone licensed, which I think we all now understand has some benefit.  But the point of getting people licensed, in part, is to make sure the bad actors are found and driven out of the system.  And I heard you saying there were 26 people who were declined largely because they didn’t disclose whether or not they did or did not have a license, but there’s only one instance in which there was an action, an enforcement action taken, if I heard you correctly.  So I’m hoping you’ll adress my perception if it’s inaccurate, that the vast majority of the work that’s undertaken is to collect the fees and go through a registration process and comply with the law with relatively small effort being given to enforcement action and catching bad actors.  Which gets to the Senator’s concern about are consumers safer or have we just created a new regulatory rubric in which everyone needs to operate but with no improved consumer safety?  So I’d love for you to speak to that concern of mine.  If I’m not getting something, I’d love to be educated.  And to the degree we have effort on processing versus enforcement, then, again, I think the good Senator was exactly right; that we need to be more efficient in our process.  I mean, use online and technical solutions so staffing can go more to enforcement to help protect consumers.
Thank you.

MS. BROUDY:  And I would like to clarify my response that we don’t know.  What I was trying to state is that the review process … the initial process of reviewing whether or not a mortgage loan originator meets the qualifications to be licensed; yes, that in itself is protecting the consumer because if that individual does not meet those requirements, they’re not going to be able to be out there originating loans.  What I’m not sure about yet is because it’s still new, is will our findings when we’re conducting regulatory examinations provide more insight into … well, our findings our still fairly new since our examination procedures were just recently revised in the last year.  So I mean, I do think there are additional standards which will ultimately protect the consumer because of the additional requirements on the originators.

And then a clarification on the 26 that were denied, they were never given a license and that was based that they did not meet the requirements or had something in their criminal background which did not allow them to be licensed; and those actually go through an enforcement process.  In order to deny a license, it’s an enforcement process.

MS. MONAHAN:  Can I add to that answer?  Prior to this time, because we didn’t license the individual—we didn’t have fingerprint background, criminal history background on these individuals, so we didn’t know what was in the individual employee’s background—that is a deterrent to licensure for some with criminal history backgrounds.  So they’re not necessarily coming in to get licensed, as well as folks who cannot pass the entrance exams or don’t complete the continuing education.  So we’re not seeing the pool we had initially thought we might see.  And so, there are natural deterrents, I suppose, regulatory requirement deterrents, to entering the marketplace if you’re not qualified now that didn’t exist prior to the enactment of SB 36.  There are folks who cannot pass the exam.  There are folks who don’t complete the requirements or don’t have the understanding of the laws to be in this industry.  And we had several thousand applications abandoned.  So while we don’t know for all of them the reasons for abandoning them, some of them simply couldn’t achieve what’s required to obtain licensure.
SENATOR BLAKESLEE:  That was an enormously helpful response.  Thank you.  I think you have very good points; that the very process of licensure probably prevents some of the bad actors from even trying to go through the process.  I think that’s fair. 

I think I still want to emphasize I think the good Senator’s point about us making sure we’re focusing on efficiency and to the degree we have staff resources, to make sure that we’re not simply processing the paperwork of those who apply, but making sure we have a strong enforcement actions to protect the consumer.

But thank you.  I think that was a great answer.

MS. MONAHAN:  Thank you.

SENATOR VARGAS:  Thank you.  I had a couple of questions myself.  My understanding was prior to SB 36 you would license corporations; you wouldn’t license individuals?
MS. MONAHAN:  Right.

SENATOR VARGAS:  After the change you had to license individuals; 2,843 of them had been abandoned; the denials were 26.  But a lot of them seemed to be abandoned; a lot of the people that probably would not have gotten the license because of some deficiency in their background.  That’s what I’m assuming.  Now what happens in the situation where someone does originate a loan and they’re not in fact licensed?  Is there, then, an ability to have a rescission on that loan?  What is the outcome for a person that gets a loan from someone who is unlicensed?  Or can they never get a loan from a person that’s unlicensed; and if they can’t, how is it that they can’t?  Do you know what I’m asking?  In other words my question is this; we’re going through this whole process to license individuals and we believe that we’re capturing most of them; what happens to those who are not captured?  What happens to the people that in fact are out there originating loans without a license?  What’s the remedy?

MS. BROUDY:  Well, during our examination that’s one thing we’re looking for; are the employees originating loans all properly licensed?  If we should find an employee who is not, that’s considered a violation and brought to the attention of the company and depending on the severity … I mean, there may be a company who is intentionally not licensing their MLOs.  There could be one instance, so we would either handle it through our regulatory process or it would be referred to our enforcement division for an administrative action, and that would be against both the company and the MLO.

SENATOR VARGAS:  Right.  Well, some of the deficiencies that you talked about was the violation of not having a license.  But the other one, I believe, was a disclosure failure; they failed to disclose.  So in a situation like that; they don’t have a license, they failed to disclose, what is the remedy of the person who gets the loan? 
MS. MONAHAN:  I don’t know that there is an individual remedy.  There are penalties the company is subject to or the mortgage loan originator or the unlicensed mortgage loan originator, but I do not believe there is any rescission right in our laws.

SENATOR VARGAS:  No right of rescission or anything like that?

MS. BROUDY:  No.

SENATOR VARGAS:  Okay.  Alright.  Any other questions?

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  Now you’re doing this as the Department of Corporations?


MS. MONAHAN:  Right.


SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  And the Department of Real Estate, are they doing this also?  Is there some way to merge so it becomes a more seamless thing?  Or are you both doing high quantities of extra work that you could both do together?


MS. MONAHAN:  It would be the latter in that each of us has different licensing programs with different grants of authorities under the licenses.  And they have an equally high number of licenses they’re issuing to mortgage loan originators.  We do coordinate to the extent possible on our policy decisions and implementing the laws and have a significant amount of communication back and forth in those areas to the extent the laws overlap.  But in terms of our licensing pools, there’s no economies to joining their additional licensees that they have from the department’s perspective.


SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  We’re not just creating extra work if they have to license loan originators and you do too?  I mean, there’s no way to actually do one instead of everybody doing their own thing?


MS. MONAHAN:  In terms of how the law exists right now there’s not.  Whether it’s ever possible to recreate something … it’s very difficult to say, especially … and I may even want to defer to the Department of Real Estate because their license is such a broad grant of authority that we’re not comparing apples and oranges.  Their real estate license allows a lot greater activity so folks hold that license for a broad set of reasons.  So to coordinate in this one aspect is a carving out of that license.  There’s a lot of “what ifs,” I suppose is the answer.

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  So the answer is no.


SENATOR VARGAS:  One of the things … I know Mr. Pool is here … one of the things … the real estate license is a pretty broad license.  This is an endorsement that they get actually from the department.  I think you’ll be able to ask him the question too, but I suspect that that’s what the issue is going to be.


Any other questions?  Comments?  Anything from you that you’d like to say?


MS. MONAHAN:  Thank you for the opportunity to be here before you today.


SENATOR VARGAS:  Anything else?  No?  Alright.  Well, thank you very, very much.  You’re not going to run away though, right?  We may need you; if you don’t mind hanging out for a little bit.  We’ll bring you back up if we need you.

MS. MONAHAN:  Absolutely.


SENATOR VARGAS:  Okay, we’re going to bring the next group up here.  And I think Mr. Pool … you’re Tom Pool.  And Steve Ellis, if you’d please come forward, identify yourself for the record and give your testimony.  I welcome you both.
Obviously, you were both here for the previous testimony.  And I know that Senator Gloria Negrete McLeod had an excellent question on the issue of redundancies; why is that you have to get both a license, potentially an endorsement; is there some other way to do it?  Do you guys also have the antiquated you only work with stones and pick to do this because we don’t have computers around here?  Anyway, welcome.


MR. TOM POOL:  Thank you.  My name is Tom Pool.  I’m an assistant commissioner with the California Department of Real Estate.  I’ve been with the Department of Real Estate for 27 years.  I’m also the department’s legislative director, and I am the program director for our mortgage loan activity section.  

And to my right is Steve Ellis, who is also an assistant commissioner.  He has been with the department equally as long.  

MR. STEVE ELLIS:  I’ve got a year on you, Tom

MR. POOL:  Yeah, 28 years.  And he is our admin chief and he’s also in charge of licensing, so he knows our budget, as well as the licensing program.

I’m going to start from the top.  You have asked some very good questions and I think I can respond to some of those.

I think it would be helpful to start a little background about the Real Estate Law and our licensees and how SAFE affected both.  To help with that, I did provide handouts for everybody.  There’s information regarding the Department of Real Estate, some stats.  We were also asked to respond to nine specific questions which we have done and I’ll go over those orally, but I’ve also provided them in writing.  Probably much more extensive than I will go into in my oral testimony, so if there is anything that you think of later, hopefully I responded to the questions sufficiently that you can go back and refer to the handout.
Now historically, the Department of Real Estate has licensed individual loan officers.  In this regard, SAFE does not bring anything new to the Department of Real Estate.

SENATOR KEHOE:  Madam Chair, Mr. Chairman, can I just jump in just to get some ground rules?

SENATOR VARGAS:  Yes, please.

SENATOR KEHOE:  I’m looking at your handout on the right side.  Are these the same numbers as the other department just gave us?  This is a whole different kettle of fish?

MR. POOL:  A whole different kettle of fish, yes.

SENATOR KEHOE:  Okay.  So I think maybe I’m still a little bit confused.  I get the Department of Real Estate and Department of Corporations have two different missions.  What’s the difference between the folks that you register or license and the folks that they register or license?

MR. POOL:  I’ll certainly cover that in the testimony.  In fact, that’s the excel worksheet that I’m going to work from in terms of my oral testimony as we get into answering the questions.  

But to answer your question specifically, we license real estate agents and brokers.  Now part of that license, the real estate broker license/sales person’s license, allows one to make or arrange loans secured by real property.  So what this means is the same license that your realtor uses to list or sell your house is the same license that allows one to broker loans.  So we license a majority of the mortgage brokers in the state of California.  When you look at DOC’s licensees, for the most part they’re lenders.  You have the California Finance Lenders and you have the RMLs (residential mortgage lenders).  So if I were to just put this in general terms, you’d be looking at the Department of Real Estate as the entity that licenses the majority of the mortgage brokers.  These are the folks that put borrowers and lenders together.  They’re the middle men in the transaction.  And I think it would be fair to say, that the majority of the licensees under the Department of Corporations are those that had the lines of credit and are making the loans.

SENATOR KEHOE:  Everybody you license is a realtor or a real estate broker, right?

MR. POOL:  Yes.

SENATOR KEHOE:  And they may do loans?  Everybody the Department of Corporations registers or licenses, they originate loans and probably are not a broker or a realtor?

MR. POOL:  Yes, that’s fair.

SENATOR KEHOE:  Okay.  Thank you.  I’m sorry.

SENATOR VARGAS:  No, it’s a very good question.  Any other good questions?

MR. POOL:  That’s take number one of two talking points so we’re moving right along.  

SENATOR VARGAS:  Any other quick questions?  Go ahead, continue.

MR. POOL:  Alright.  And in fact, if you take a look at the license requirements to get a real estate sales person or broker license and you compare that to SAFE, I would even argue if I didn’t know better, that when they were putting SAFE together they actually modeled their licensing requirements under the Real Estate Law.  

To put this in perspective:  

· To get a real estate license, you need pre-license education; 

· To continue your license, you need continuing education to get that license renewed; 

· In order to get the license, you have to pass an exam; 

· In order to get the license, you have to get your fingerprints taken.  

All those are current requirements and they were requirements prior to SB 36 in order to get a real estate license.  

Well, now along comes SAFE.  SAFE has nearly identical requirements but they’re slightly different.  So when we got SAFE and we were looking at the federal requirements, the Department of Real Estate was really put in a position of putting a square peg in a round hole.  We already had mechanisms in place for individual licensing.  The difficulty for us in taking a look at SAFE, is that things were just staggered enough … the real estate license is valid for four years; the SAFE license is valid for one.  

I want to back up just a little bit to something that Senator Vargas mentioned earlier; because license activity by definition requires or allows one to originate loans, when SAFE was crafted … SB 36 was crafted, I should say, it made all the sense in the world not to create a new license but to create an endorsement to the existing license because it was already under the Real Estate Law.  By definition you needed a real estate license to engage in a MLO (mortgage loan origination) activity.  So SAFE actually brought in an endorsement to the license; those licensees that want to do the mortgage loan originations under our law simply have to apply for the endorsement.  And again, under SB 36, that made all the sense in the world.  And it does get away from a little of the redundancy of trying to create a whole new license.

Now to get back to this notion of a square peg in a round hole, one of the things that I talked about is our license is valid for four years—the SAFE endorsement is valid for one.  This meant we had to recreate our abilities.  We have a very robust enterprise system, Senator, probably, I think, one of the most robust in the state.  We try to automate every single process that we possibly can and the reason we need to do that is we have currently over 440,000 real estate licensees in the state.  That’s down from a peak of nearly 550,000 18 months ago.  

So we were charged with trying to retool our system when SAFE came around.  

Background checks created another interesting notion or problem for our licensees.  When they got their license, they already got their fingerprints taken in order to get a real estate license.  They apply for MLO, they have to go through another set of fingerprints.  The reason for that is the federal government is unable to provide updated information of subsequent arrests on a federal level.  So in order to make sure we had a snapshot of what our licensees had done from the time they got their real estate license to the time they applied for the MLO, we had to go through this process again to get them re-fingerprinted to find out if there was any subsequent arrests or federal conviction.  So you talk about redundancy.  Senator Blakeslee left, but that was one of the things that was created by SAFE.

Our licensees have pre-license education requirements.  It’s also required under SAFE.  The classes are very similar in topic but just different enough where it did create a whole new regime of education that needed to be satisfied.  We were very fortunate.  Early on in the process we started negotiating with the national system -- the NMLSR -- and said our licensees have already gone through pre-licensing education requirements; they’ve been in the business; can we get a waiver for this first group of folks that are going to come into the NMLS?  And they said yes.  So a majority of our folks that got licensed, at least initially, did not have to satisfy the SAFE pre-license education requirements.  That was just something that we negotiated to try to reduce the redundancy in getting this implemented.

Finally, some of our licensees, a very small portion of our licensees (Senator, I talked about this in a previous hearing about the threshold mortgage brokers), they have to file quarterly and annual reports with the department.  There’s only about 350.  SAFE brings in a whole new round of reporting requirements.  We heard about it from the Department of Corporations.  They’re quarterly and annual reports that are due—their “national call reports.”  

In addition, SAFE is going to require, or it does require, an additional set of reports for our mortgage brokers to submit on a state level, and that is something new.  And it’s probably the one component brought in under SB 36 that we’re going to find the most beneficial once it’s fully implemented.

One other aspect that I’d like to point out in terms of differences between DOC and the Department of Real Estate in terms of licensing:  they have certain net worth requirements and they have bonding requirements in order to get the license and to get that SAFE originator license, and we don’t.  The Department of Real Estate doesn’t require any kind of bonding.  The reason for that, there’s a carve out in the federal law that says that if you’re licensing agency has what they call a recovery fund or a fund of last resort, you can skip the bonding.  The recovery fund is a fund that allows a victim that has been defrauded by one of our licensees, if they get a fraud judgment, they are unable to collect on that fraud judgment, they can put a claim into the recovery account.  The payouts are limited to $250,000 per licensee and $50,000 per transaction.  Because of that exemption in the federal law, our licensees don’t have to get bonded.

Alright, with that in mind, if you want to follow along—Senator Kehoe actually pulled this document out of the folder—on top it said the “Department of Real Estate Key Dates,” and then there were nine specific questions that we were asked to respond to and I’m just going to go along starting with question A.

The key dates are what they are.  We did get things implemented in a timely fashion.  
So the first question we were asked is how many people have you licensed or issued endorsements to?  
And that chart down at the bottom, you can see in 2010 we had a total of 21,265; the end of ’11, 2011, we had 26,977, a 5,700 person increase; and then March 1st, just a few days ago, that number was 24,086, so we did have a decrease of nearly 3,000.  The decrease can be accounted for a lot of different reasons but I think the main reason for the diminishing number of MLOs is just a product of what we’re seeing in the marketplace right now.

The number of transactions that are occurring, the number of loans that are occurring, are nowhere near where they were back in the mid-2000s.  

The next question we were asked is how many did you estimate would be getting MLO endorsements?  
Well, this estimate goes back to 2008, and that estimate was 39,407.  Well, as I just explained, 24,086 is what we have currently, so we have 60, actually, 61 percent of our original estimate.  But these numbers don’t tell the whole story.  And I just want to kind of walk through this because when I worked through the numbers I was really, I shouldn’t say “surprised,” but it was remarkable how close we were with our original estimate. 
So if you take a look at the current number of 24,086 and you peek behind the curtain, those are the number of people we have endorsed but there’s a whole—and I want to borrow this term from my friends at the banks—we have a shadow inventory of potential mortgage endorsees.  

We have 6,500 pending deficient applications.  These are folks that started the process to get their mortgage loan endorsement and have stopped.  They stopped mid-process.  This could be due to a lot of factors.  My guess is a majority of the folks probably just either didn’t bother or could not pass either the state or national portion of the MLO exam.  

We have another 166 that are undergoing background reviews.  These are the ones that we culled out of the pool MLO applications.  They have some sort of issue with their background.  My guess is, a majority of these are going to have some sort of criminal or other type of deficiency in their background that we’re taking a look at to see whether or not they qualify for a MLO endorsement.  

And then you have another 1,384 that are in a variety of non-endorsed statuses which can be remedied rather quickly.  If the non-endorsed status individual does something to rectify their application, they would then become endorsed.  

So that brings you to 32,189, which represents 82 percent of our original estimate.  But if you look from where we took the estimate in 2008 to where we are now, we’ve had an 18 percent reduction of the general licensed population just because of the market.  And what that tells me, is our original estimate of 39,000 was spot on.

Alright, the next question; how many staff did you add to handle SAFE workload?  
Well, the answer is sort of simple—it’s 27.  And that is broken down, including 15 positions in our licensing units; 7 deputy commissioners in our mortgage lending activity section; 2 limited term deputies in our enforcement program; 1 limited term in audits; and 2 technical positions in our IT.
So I want to skip to the next question which is well how many did you estimate that you needed—and this is question D—in order to get SAFE implemented?  
Well, when we were looking at SB 36 back in 2008, we estimated we’d need 120 positions to fully implement SB 36.  Out of this 120, 82 were dedicated towards proactive enforcement in compliance monitoring of the reports; and 8 positions with respect to administrative support.  So a lot has occurred since 2008 to where we are now in terms of the resources that we needed.
We are doing pretty well with the 27 positions.  And the reason for that one obvious one, as I just stated, is the number of the endorsees have gone way done so we don’t have the same pool to regulate that we first imagined when SB 36 was going through the process.  
The other interesting part; we did suspect—and you heard this from DOC—is that we were going to have potentially thousands of individuals that were engaged in the unlicensed activity.  And one of the things that has occurred, and maybe not to my surprise, but maybe to my pleasant surprise, is industry is doing a very good job of self-regulating.  And what I mean by that is lenders are looking at these 1003s, these applications that have come in, and if the originator doesn’t have a MLO endorsement, they’re not funding a loan; they’re giving it back.  I know this is occurring because the number of calls that the department gets when an individual is either in transition with trying to get a new sponsor … so we get calls from lenders and MLOs saying that, “I can’t get this loan funded until my records are straight.”  So the number of folks that we really envisioned doing proactive MLO unlicensed activity cases, it appears at this point is not a pressing issue.

The other thing that was a big concern was trying to get both sets of records.  As I explained … well, you heard from DOC, applicants for a MLO endorsement have to go through the NMLSR and then that information—that’s the National Mortgage Licensing System—that information is then conveyed to the Department of Real Estate for a review.  One of our concerns is that we already have a robust licensing and enterprise system.  So now we were put in the position of having to compare the information that was in our database, compare it to what’s in the NMLSR, and that was a big concern for us.  And we initially envisioned when we were going to implement SB 36, to make sure the records were copacetic before we issued the MLO.  Well, we quickly realized that wasn’t going to be possible; we’d have a huge backlog of MLO applications.  So what we’ve instituted that works out pretty well, is we make sure the major criteria is satisfied:  they pass the exams; they’ve gone through their fingerprints; they’ve gone through the background check, and if the major criteria has been satisfied, we’ve issued the mortgage loan endorsements.  Then, we spent the next 12 months reviewing their records to make sure that our system matches what the NMLS has to make sure that the records are copacetic and, in effect, in sync.  

The other thing that we instituted during peak processing times—and that was right before we issued the MLO endorsements and renewal time—was using overtime.  

SENATOR VARGAS:  I want to ask, Tom, real quick, if I can interrupt you?

MR. POOL:  Yes, go ahead.

SENATOR VARGAS:  Did you have to shift people from examinations, then, to licensing when you were doing this?  I mean, it almost seems like you necessarily had to shift people around.


MR. POOL:  We did.  We absolutely did.  And that was for the initial onslaught of the original issuance of the MLO endorsements.  Since then, with the 27 PYs that we’ve gotten, everyone’s kind of found their place now and we haven’t had to redirect resources in that regard.


SENATOR VARGAS:  Okay.  So it was the ramp up that …


MR. POOL:  It was the ramp up.


SENATOR VARGAS:  Okay, thank you.


MR. POOL:  In fact, Steve and I had many late nights during that December to try to get everything done.


SENATOR VARGAS:  Great.  Thank you.


MR. POOL:  And the other thing that occurred, and DOC also mentioned this, is that an awful lot of people have gone out of the business and they have not pursued mortgage loan originator as a business anymore.  And as such, the license population has gone down and I think those that have stayed in the business are serious about it.  We don’t have the individuals that are just doing it occasionally or for a neighbor or something like that anymore.


Alright, the next question, if C was less than D, in other words, if we got less or fewer PYs than we initially thought we would need to implement SAFE, what isn’t getting done?  And it’s a fair question.  It’s a good question.  And there are quite a few things that we haven’t been able to accomplish yet because of the lack of resources.  

First and foremost is we don’t have the resources to review these call reports that are coming, and subsequently the SB 36 business activity reports that are coming in shortly, to review them in such a way and scrutinize them in such a way that will provide us a whole lot of useful data.  As it turns out, the NMLS call reports don’t provide us much information anyway.  At the time we were looking at SB 36, the NMLSR had not created the call reports.  We didn’t know what was going to be in them.  And so, we put positions aside in order to review and monitor those reports.  Well, as it turns out, there’s very marginal information in there that the department can use and mainly is due to the fact—and it goes to the differences between the licensees of DOC and DRE—they’re asking for lender information, and our guys broker loans.  So what I’m told from industry; a lot of our brokers are going on to the NMLS and just putting zeros in those call reports because they don’t have anything to report.  But it is necessary for them to do.  


The other thing that is not getting done is we were envisioning proactive audits, something in my 27 years that I would like to see more of at the department, but with 440,000 licensees, 186,000 brokers, it’s hard to be proactive.  We would have to ramp up incredibly in order to hit all those brokers.  So one of the things that went by the boards, really, is status quo in terms of these new MLOs is we’re not … we envision doing follow-up and proactive audits on these individuals and we just don’t have the resources to do that.

Again, with these unlicensed activity cases, one thing that was very clever in SB 36 was the requirement of our licensees to let us know prior to the implementation of the MLO endorsement to tell us who they are.  How many people were in the mortgage business?  So it was one year before the endorsement requirement came into effect and during that one year our licensees had to tell us if they were in the MLO business—mortgage loan originator business.  So we got 40,000 or so notices.  We turned the clock from December 31st to January 1st; we had 25,000 MLOs; we had 40,000 people that notified us that they were in the business prior to that clock turning from year to the next.  So we had a potential of tens of thousands of unlicensed activity cases.


One of the things that we ended up doing is contacting these individuals via email and other means, and we found out a majority of them were just out of the business.  It was going to be too expensive.  There wasn’t enough business to be had.   But we didn’t get through all of them; we got through a majority of them.  But we ended up inactivating those cases because it just really wasn’t worth the time or effort.


Alright, the next question; how many licenses have you, or SAFE endorsements, have been disciplined?  This is on page-5 and there’s some charts there.  
One thing I would like to again point out is, our folks that got the MLO endorsements have already been through the screening process once to get their real estate license.  So they’ve been through the education; they went through the background checks; they went through testing, so I wouldn’t expect, since they’ve already been through one filter, to see too many folks fall out.  But I was surprised because of the slight nuances in criteria for licensure, when you look at MLO disciplinary actions, we actually have denied four applications, four withdrawn.  We issued one MLO with restrictions.  And then there’s 130 that are still pending.  These are the ones that are going through the background checks and potentially might be issued a Statement of Issues.  There’s another box … and then we have real estate licensees that have MLOs.  Two have voluntarily surrendered their real estate license; seven have hearings pending.  These ones with the hearings pending, which means we filed an accusation against them but it probably wasn’t for MLO activity; it was probably for a real estate license violation but they also have a MLO and if they lose their real estate license, they’re going to lose their MLO endorsement.

And then if you look at our entire pool of investigations, we have about 1,083 against licensees that also have a MLO.


In terms of the next steps:  What steps has the DRE taken to proactively identify SAFE Act violations among our licensees?  
I’d like to set the stage a little bit on that one of the things that SAFE did bring to the department for the first time, which was very cool, was our ability to get email addresses.  Why that is significant -- it really speeds things up for us when we have deficiencies or non-compliance; we’re able to email the licensee as opposed to sending out a letter, which was the standard procedure prior.


The other thing, Senator, that you did for the Department of Real Estate, is co-author SB 53 last year.  And there was a provision in that bill that allows the department to issue citations and fines.  We didn’t have that ability prior to SB 53.  The thing that’s cool about it is if we see a de minimis violation, before, we can kind of cajole someone to get in compliance or otherwise we’d have to file an accusation and go after their license, now we have the ability to issue an actual citation and if they don’t comply actually issue a fine.  So we’re very pleased with that.  We’re in the process of getting the protocols in place to do that.  But that’s really going to help with getting de minimis violations.


SENATOR VARGAS:  We have a question.


SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  Yes.  What would trigger a violation or a complaint?


MR. POOL:  That’s a good question.  A majority of the investigations we initiate are complaint driven.  So a typical complaint would be, on the MLO side, “I wasn’t told about the terms and conditions in a timely fashion;” “I got to the closing, and the rate or fees were higher,” the typical things I’m sure you’ve heard over and over again.  The other type of cases that we get a considerable amount—other than trust fund shortage; that’s probably the one action that we take most one—is misrepresentations.  And this is true whether it’s for a real estate licensee doing a real estate transaction or whether it’s a licensee doing a mortgage loan transaction.  We get complaints from individuals, either borrowers or buyers or sellers that said, “The agent misrepresented something to me.”

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  It has to be something very serious or can it be …


MR. POOL:  It does not.  In fact, we’re obligated to really investigate any complaint that we receive, and frankly, we take any complaint seriously.


SENATOR VARGAS:  Thank you.


MR. POOL:  Other steps that we’ve taken to make sure we have compliance with SAFE, one of the things I just mentioned, was contacting all the individuals that told us they were in the business and then didn’t follow-up with their MLO activity.  We’ve changed our protocols on our broker office survey.  These are our special investigators who go out and look at an office.  And we have protocols for examinations.  We’ve updated those to include MLO violations.  


This was a lot of fun:  We actually got together with the Office of Administrative Hearing and we put together a … it wasn’t a webinar, it was actually a class to teach the administrative law judges about the new provisions of SAFE and this really helped with the process.  As these cases starting coming through the administrative process, they had a worksheet to work from to make sure they understood what the requirements were.  


We’ve also included MLO violations on our internet report.  We file and register every month the accusations that are filed and those get posted.  


And our audit procedures have also been changed to make sure that we understand—our auditors understand and know what to look for in terms of an audit.


The next question:  I think out of all the ones that were asked of us, this is the one I think is probably the most important, at least to me.  And this is any new reports that you’re receiving pursuant to SAFE.  
As I explained earlier, there are call reports that are due on the national level—to the NMLS.  And as I previously stated, we don’t find these reports too terribly helpful to us.  We are going to require our brokers to comply with the requirement.  It is a requirement.  We have about an 80 percent approval … or 80 percent of our licensees, at least as of December 31st, have submitted the reports and we’ll be contacting those that are deficient.  


But there’s another report under SB 36 that requires brokers to notify the Department of Real Estate, or actually provide a report 90 days after the end of their fiscal year about their activities.  This is something the department has not had before other than its very small segment of licensees.  We are expecting 5- to 7,000 brokers and corporations to file those reports.  The type of information that we’re going to be gathering is pretty explicit in SB 36.  And we’re in the process of doing an online filing system.  We’re a little behind in getting this up and running.  And the reason for that, really, is we didn’t have the IT resources to get it sooner.  But we’re very close to having the report, I’d say within the next 60 days, available online for brokers.  And once it’s online, they can start submitting these annual business activity reports that will prove, I think, very useful to the Department of Real Estate in terms of looking for high risk brokers that are doing certain types of activities that may be problematic.  We’ll be able to target our resources to those that, what we think, are engaged in problematic activity, is how I’ll put it.


Alright, the last … (Recording stopped at 01:17:42 and starts again at 01:18:26) … ______ down into a broker’s business to see if they’re just a run-of-the-mill shop charging average costs and expenses as opposed to somebody that may be gauging consumers and charging higher rates or costs and fees.  That’s something that we just don’t have the ability to do right now.  And the nice thing about it, the information is coming to us.


SENATOR VARGAS:  So the information will come to you.  And how many people do you have to review that?  Or how will you review that information?


MR. POOL:  That’s an excellent question but I don’t have an answer right now.  What the intent is—like I said, we’re expecting 5- to 7,000 of these reports, probably a majority of them coming in the early part of next year—is that we have people in our mortgage lending activity section that are initially going to be charged with looking at these.  We’re going to have to, first of all, put filters in to kind of cull out the brokers that we want to look at.  And number two, we’re hopeful that we can find some sort of analytical software to analyze the data that comes in and that will reduce the amount of resources—human resources—that we would need in order to get the information out of the report, the data out of those reports that would be deemed useful.  
So our focus right now is just getting the information.  We’ll get that up and running.  Once the information starts coming in, we do have a handful of staff that are going to be charged with looking at the initial ones and trying to put these filters in place so we can cull out the ones … and if it turns out to be overwhelming, I’m sure we’ll be revisiting Sub. 4, to come back for additional PYs.  But I’ll have a much better answer for you twelve months from now.


SENATOR VARGAS:  Thank you very much.  Go ahead.


MR. POOL:  Alright, to date, what have been our challenges in implementing SAFE?  One of the things that has been kind of frustrating for the Department of Real Estate is dealing with the NMLSR.  As I explained, we had a very robust system in place, so we had this overlay of a system that isn’t able to talk to ours.  We had difficulty in getting data downloads from the system.


In your packet, we sent periodic reports to the NMLS R about the issues that we’re having with their system.  And there’s a typical report in the folder.  It would be really nice, and I don’t know if there is a legislative fix for this other than to keep dealing with NMLS R, is they get the systems to talk to one another so we don’t have to keep duplicating efforts in matching efforts between the NMLSR and the DRE.  In terms of SAFE, that’s probably our biggest concern.  
There’s some other bullet points there but I’ll leave it at that.


I know there were some other questions that I may be able to respond to.


SENATOR VARGAS:  Any other comments from yourselves?


MR. POOL:  Steve?


MR. ELLIS:  No, I think you covered it very well.  I do think that our data system, our internal enterprise information system, is one of the best and we can manipulate it to start capturing call report data.  We’ve got some great programmers and I think either through an analytic software solution or internal solution …


SENATOR VARGAS:  Well, you should loan them to the Department of Corporations so you can off the paper.


MR. ELLIS:  Three times our cost.  So we’re hopeful that we’ll be able to get on top of the call reports.  The big unknown is, as Tom mentioned, we’re not really too sure how many folks are going to be actually submitting them and what the workload is going to look like.  It remains to be seen.


SENATOR VARGAS:  Okay.  Thank you.  Yes, Senator.

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  Okay, so you have an IT system that works for you all but you can’t talk to anybody else, is that correct?


MR. POOL:  I think it’s the other way around.  The NMLS system is antiquated to the point that it can’t talk to us.  What we’ve done, as a work-around, is we get data downloads.  They provide us the data, and I don’t know if it’s an Excel spreadsheet, but some format that we can, on a nightly basis, get into our system.  But I would reverse that statement.


SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  So what I’m hearing is that there are a whole lot of departments out there that have programs but they have the inability to speak to each other, is that correct?


MR. POOL:  I don’t know about other departments.  Our system talks to each other.  I mean, everybody in our department can log into a terminal in Sacramento or San Diego …

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  Yes, but it’s within your department only.  It isn’t with anybody else.


MR. POOL:  No, that’s correct.


SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  Because we’re going to be looking at IT systems in my subcommittee, so just …


Okay, now I’m going to ask you the same question that I asked the other speakers.  In hindsight, were there any bells that rang that we were going to fall off the cliff like we did?


MR. POOL:  I’m going to answer that in two parts.  I didn’t see … well, I saw the cliff.  I can’t say I just saw was an abyss.  As I explained, I’ve been with the department 27 years.  Prior to that I was actually in the mortgage business.  And I actually wrote a paper on mortgage alternatives back in the eighties.  And all you had to do was listen to the radio.  And it wasn’t too hard to figure out if you’re doing 100 percent financing, 125 percent financing, you did away with the traditional underwriting standards that I kind of grew up with.  When those went by the boards you knew trouble was coming.  What I think a lot of us missed, was what was going on in the back end on Wall Street that these things were going right out the door.  So when there was a … you know before, especially if you go back into the eighties where these loans were just being sold to “Corner Savings and Loan,” they had underwriting standards.  Well, what really in hindsight that we looked at what happened in the mid-2000s, is those standards just went out the door.  There was no review of these loans in terms of qualifications, and to a certain extent, even the properties involved.  Shortly, starting in 2007, the type of cases that we started working that really kind of led to the collapse was the notion of flipping these properties with bogus appraisals.  But they had no problem getting these loans funded and turned around and sold.


SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  Well, I think there’s enough blame to go around.


MR. POOL:  Yeah, I agree.


SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  But do you think that we all had some part of the blame?


MR. POOL:  You know, the one notion that I would like to float is that the one thing that I’ve learned in my years is the marketplace is much too creative and they’re always going to stay ahead of regulations.  So what I’ve kind of counseled folks along the way, I’d much rather see regulations in place that go to behavior as opposed to products.  And what I’m talking about is, you know, a misrepresentation is a misrepresentation whether they’re doing, what do they call it? A no cost option ARM or whatever.  Our brokers are supposed to be fiduciaries, they’re supposed to be acting in the best interest of the client, and if they were doing that we wouldn’t have had the issues.  But one of the things I would like to see going forward is, to make sure the behavior is penalized as opposed to trying to restrict the type of products that are in the market.

SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  So did we learn enough that we’re forewarned now?  I know people can get creative in anything.  Do we in the Legislature, are we forewarned enough that we would do good legislation that would prevent this without, you know, doing all kinds of crazy stuff?

MR. POOL:  You know, Senator, the only way that I can respond to that is time will tell.  I would hope so.  I’ve appeared in front of the Banking Committee I don’t know how many times in the last five years, and we’re always talking about the same thing.  And we have passed a lot of laws.  In fact, Senator, when I was here for the hard money hearing, I brought my 1985 law book and it was about this thin.  This is the 2012 version.  So it’s a … time will tell.  We have passed a lot of laws.  You know, from my perspective as a regulator, I’d like to take a breath and try to regulate what we got.


SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  Except that every time we create a law, somebody gets a little more creative and we have to do another law to stop that and eventually you have a book this big, because people are so creative.


MR. POOL:  I agree.  You’re absolutely right, and that’s why I think if you legislate towards behavior, stiffen the penalties for bad behavior, for example …


SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  So what would you suggest; we whip them at the stake?  We burn them?  What?


MR. POOL:  Whatever you deem appropriate, Senator.


SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  What would you like to see?


MR. ELLIS:  I think you need it around an enforcement program.


SENATOR NEGRETE McLEOD:  Well, I think our job is to ensure that all departments have enough enforcers that they carry out their duties to actually implement the law so we can cut off the creativity.


MR. POOL:  Thank you.


SENATOR VARGAS:  Thank you.  Seeing no other questions, do you have any last comments?  No?


MR. POOL:  No, I don’t.  Thank you for having me and that was pretty painless.  I just came from the doctor before this hearing and I had a cast off my leg and they put on this boot.


SENATOR VARGAS:  I heard all about it.


MR. POOL:  Yeah, it was awesome.


SENATOR VARGAS:  I’m happy you’re here.  We’re going now to public comment.  Is there anyone in the public here to testify today?  If you are, if you could please come forward, state your name for the record and give your testimony.  Anybody here?  Okay.  
Thank you.  Seeing no other testimony, we are adjourned. 

I want to thank my colleague for being here.  Thank you very much.  
Again, thank you for being here.  And to all those who testified and the other people that were here in the audience, thank you.  We’re adjourned.
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